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  Effective % Net Of 

Shareholders’ Name  Treasury Shares Holding

1 Arab Banking Corporation, Bahrain 54.56%

2 National Commercial Bank, Saudi Arabia 13.19%

3 Arab Bank For Investment & Foreign Trade, Abu Dhabi 3.26%

4 Libyan Foreign Investment Co., Libya 3.16%

5 National Bank Of Egypt, Egypt 3.16%

6 Arab International Bank, Egypt 2.41%

7 National Bank Of Bahrain, Bahrain 2.37%

8 Alrajhi Commercial Foreign Exchange, Saudi Arabia 2.17%

9 Banque Du Caire, Egypt 1.76%

10 Banque Intercontinentale Arabe, France 1.63%

11 Arab Turkish Bank, Turkey 1.32%

12 Al Muzaini Exchange Co., Kuwait 1.20%

13 Mashreq Bank P.S.C., Dubai, UAE 1.20%

14 Kuwait Investment Authority, Kuwait 1.12%

15 Banque Centrale Populaire, Morocco 0.82%

16 Jawad & Haider Yacoub Abdulhassan Co, Kuwait 0.60%

17 Banque Internationale Arabe De Tunisie, Tunisia 0.49%

18 Banque Nasr Libano-Africaine Sal , Lebanon 0.44%

19 Credit Libanais Sal, Lebanon 0.40%

20 El Nilein Industrial Development Bank, Sudan 0.36%

21 First Gulf Bank, Abu Dhabi, UAE 0.35%

22 Chinguitty Banque , Mauritania 0.35%

23 Arab African International Bank, Egypt 0.33%

24 Commercial & Savings Bank Of Somalia, Somalia 0.33%

25 Qatar National Bank, Qatar  0.33%

26 Bank Of Beirut Sal, Beirut, Lebanon 0.26%

27 Ahmed Al Amery Exchange Company, Abu Dhabi, UAE 0.24%

28 Banque Libanaise Pour Le Commerce, Lebanon  0.23%

29 Rafidain Bank, Iraq 0.18%

30 Banque de l’ Industrie et du Travail, Lebanon 0.18%

31 Jordan Kuwait Bank, Jordan 0.18%

32 Oman International Bank, Oman 0.18%

33 National Bank Of Yemen, Yemen 0.18%

34 Farmer›s Commercial Bank, Sudan  0.18%

35 Sudanese Investment & Projects Co. Ltd, Sudan 0.18%

36 North Africa Commercial Bank Sal , Lebanon 0.18%

37 Yemen Bank For Reconstruction & Deve., Yemen 0.18%

38 Banque Du Sud, Tunisia 0.17%

39 Central Bank Of Somalia, Somalia 0.11%

40 Bank Of Sudan, Sudan 0.11%
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AFS is the leading Arab company for electronic banking, personal payment instruments 
and related services. Established in 1984, AFS pioneered the concept of outsourcing 
card processing in the region and was the first company to set-up an end-to end state-
of-the-art card outsourcing environment in Bahrain. AFS is the largest payment card 
processor in the region and is a principal member of Visa and MasterCard.
 
The technology used by AFS and the range of services we offer are unmatched by any 
other processor in the region. Combined with our dedicated and passionate people, we 
are delivering solutions of outstanding performance that make a real difference.
 
The dynamic combination of people and technology has helped us build on our crucial 
resources and strengths. We provide invaluable partnership to our customers and 
shareholders, and maintain our strong commitment to delivering well into the future.
 
 

annual report
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vision, mission, objectives

Our Strategic Objectives
•	 	Build	on	the	AFS	brand,	making	it	instantly	recognizable 
  and closely associated with state-of-the-art technology, 
  innovation and quality service.

•	 	Develop	 alliances	 that	 enhance	 the	 credibility	 of	 the 
  AFS brand and improve our value proposition.

•	 	Improve	 the	 business	 model	 and	 the	 underlying 
  economics of the business.

•	 	Build	economies	of	scale	by	rapidly	growing	our
    client base.

•	 	Expand	the	value	chain	within	our	core	business	and 
  add value for our customers.

Our Vision
To become the region’s most trusted and respected 
provider of electronic payments and consumer-finance 
outsourcing services.

Our Mission
•	 	Win,	retain	and	maximize	relationships	with	profitable					 
  customer groups at minimum risk.

•	 	Deliver	innovative	and	integrated	outsourcing	solutions 
  that help our clients succeed and grow their business in 
  a cost efficient manner.

•	 	Maximize	 shareholder	 value	 by	 delivering	 solid, 
  sustainable and profitable growth. 

•	 	Attract	and	develop	highly	committed	and	accountable 
  teams of professional individuals with a clear 
  purpose, common approach, performance goals and 
  complementary skills. So we can consistently provide 
		 	the	 best	 services	 that	 meet	 and	 exceed	 our	 client’s 
	 	expectations.
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our team is one of
   our greatest strengths

“In 2011 – AFS has strengthened its client focus
and invested in upgrading its infrastructure to retain

its leadership position in the payment
processing business.” 

         Hassan A. Juma - Chairman
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Letter to the Shareholders

Investing in People:	 Effective	 execution	 of	 our	 business	
strategy will only be possible if we manage our most valuable 
asset, our people, well. In driving performance it is important 
to ensure we encourage, motivate, manage and develop 
our staff whilst creating a great place to work. In 2011 AFS 
continued to focus on hiring and retaining the best talent. It 
helped us in formulating new growth strategies and developing 
new products and services to our clients’ satisfaction. We also 
focused on providing our employees with the opportunities 
they need to enhance their skills and develop their careers.

As we move forward, we cannot become complacent about what 
we have achieved. Delivering superior service and maintaining 
high client satisfaction will be key.  We will continue to grow by 
capitalizing	on	our	client	relationship	model	and	enabling	them	
to achieve higher growth.

In 2012, the key challenge for AFS will be to ensure that revenue 
growth outpaces cost growth.  This will be broadly dependent on 
economic revival in the GCC and MENA markets and increased 
growth of plastics as the preferred payment mechanism in our 
markets.  We will maintain a tight focus on our costs to ensure 
continued profitability.

In	 conclusion,	 I	 would	 like	 to	 extend	 my	 sincere	 appreciation	
and thanks to our valued shareholders, customers and my fellow 
board members for their continued support and cooperation; 
and my special thanks to the Central Bank of Bahrain for their 
support. 

Last but not least, I would like to appreciate the hard work and 
professionalism of the management team and the staff of AFS. 
Our company is led by a strong team who have the skills to ensure 
AFS delivers value to our customers and shareholders. They 
have successfully addressed the key strategic and operational 
challenges facing the company and will continue to do so to the 
benefit of all.

Given our market position and continued focus, I believe AFS is 
poised to grow its market share and retain its leadership position 
in the coming years.

Yours sincerely,

Hassan A. Juma
Chairman

•	

Dear Shareholders,

The year 2011 once again demonstrated the strong fundamentals 
of our growth strategy and our ability to continue delivering 
substantial value to our shareholders. We reinforced our market 
position by achieving strong momentum across our business 
lines and deepening our relationships with clients. We also 
strengthened our infrastructure both in technology and people 
and have been successful in winning new business while cross 
selling	value	added	services	to	our	existing	clients.	

In the twenty-seventh year of our successful operations, AFS 
has reported a net profit of US$4.7 million up by 6% compared 
to US$4.4 million we achieved in 2010. 

The highlights of our financial performance in 2011 are:

Gross revenue increased by 18% to US$22.8 million in 2011 
from US$19.3 million in 2010.

Core card processing revenue growing by 4% to   
US$16.2 million compared to 2010.

We sold our equity stake in Euronet Middle East   
W.L.L., resulting in a gain of US$4.4 million, which
has	been	recognized	in	2011	income	statement.

Provision against losses marginally increased from US$0.002 
million in 2010 to US$0.066 million in 2011, principally 
attributable to our continuing conservative investment policy.

Operating	expenses	increased	by	US$3.2	million	(22%)	
primarily on account of higher software renewal fees, 
investment in new technology and a new Disaster
Recovery	(DR)	center	in	Dubai.

Some of the key highlights of 2011 include:

Long Term Renewal of VisionPLUS License: The long term 
renewal of the VisionPLUS license with First Data provided 
our clients with platform stability and the capability to launch 
exciting	new	products	and	services.	We	need	to	focus	on	the	
needs of our customers and develop products and services 
that address those needs to be successful.

Advancements in Technological and Operational Capabilities: 
Substantial investments have been made in 2011 to streamline 
our operations and upgrade our infrastructural capabilities.  
Key developments on this front include establishing a new 
DR Centre in Dubai and the upgrade of IT infrastructure 
through the installation of the latest IBM z114 Mainframes in 
Bahrain and Dubai.  

Exploring New Geographies: We remain focused on ensuring 
that we capitalise on the value we provide to our clients. In 
2011,	 AFS	 expanded	 its	 presence	 across	 the	 region	 and	
today we have a strong foothold not only in the GCC but are 
also	expanding	into	new	emerging	markets.	We	will	continue	
to pursue our strategy to enter new potential markets by 
building on our strong reputation as the most trusted provider 
of electronic payments and consumer lending outsourcing 
solutions in the region.

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	

•	
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delivering solutions of outstandingperformance
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US$ ‘000
20072011 2010 2009 2008

Earnings

Gross Revenue  22,791  19,287  19,367  16,460  18,991 

Net Profit for the year  4,668  4,407  4,304  1,149  6,708 

Financial Position 

Total Assets  75,546  72,363  72,884  72,696  78,858 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  31,555  35,498  35,368  39,258  47,550 

Shareholders Funds  63,375  61,006  59,501  56,518  60,808 

Investment	Securities	(including	trading)	  13,027  14,890  14,956  21,437  18,073 

Capital

Proposed Dividend   2,250  2,700  2,700  2,250  5,850 

Weighted average Number of Shares  5,690  5,690  5,690  5,690  5,690 

Number	of	Staff		(No.)	  116  112  104  110  97 

Ratios  (%)

Profitability

Return on average shareholder’s funds 7.5% 7.3% 7.4% 2.0% 11.0%

Total cost / Gross Revenue 79.5% 77.2% 77.8% 93.0% 64.7%

Book	Value	Per	Share	(Expressed	in	USD) 11.14 10.72 10.46 9.93 10.69

Earnings	Per	Share		(Expressed	in	USD) 0.82 0.77 0.76 0.20 1.18

Dividend	Per	Share		(Expressed	in	USD) 0.40 0.47 0.47 0.40 1.03

Capital

Average Shareholder’s funds as % of average total assets 84.09% 82.97% 79.69% 77.42% 76.35%

Liquidity

Current Ratio 4.52 4.43 3.78 2.65 2.89

Liquid Assets Ratio 2.59 3.13 2.64 2.43 2.63

Efficiency

Net	Profit	Per	Staff	(US$	000) 40 39 41 10 69
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Board of Directors

Hassan A. Juma FCMA
Chairman

Place and date of Birth
Muharraq, Kingdom of Bahrain, 1948

Educational Background Fellow of The 
Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants	(UK)

Career History

1964: Completed the secondary school, 
in Commercial Section, and joined the 
Accounting & Finance Department of 
Bahrain	Petroleum	company	(Bapco)	as	
Trainee.

1971: Became an Associate member of 
the Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants	(CIMA),	and	appointed	
as Accountant in the Accounting  and 
Finance Department, Bapco.

1975: Joined Chase Manhattan Bank, 
Bahrain, as Head of Operations. 1978: 
Promoted to Second Vice President 
at Chase Manhattan Bank, Bahrain 
responsible for the Offshore Banking Unit’s 
Operations. 

1979: Joined National Bank of Bahrain 
in January 1979 as Assistant General 
Manager, Administration & Finance. 1982: 
Promoted to Deputy General Manager. 

1984: Appointed as the General Manager 
and	Chief	Executive	Officer.	January	

1997: Elected as a member of the Board of 
Directors of National Bank of Bahrain, and 
appointed as Managing Director and Chief 
Executive.

April 2008:	President	&	Chief	Executive,	
Arab	Banking	Corporation	(B.S.C).

Mr. Adel Saleh Alhowar
Deputy Chairman
Senior	Executive	Vice	President

Head of Individual Banking Sector & 
Senior Officer for Central & Eastern Region
The National Commercial Bank, Jeddah

Born on the East Coast of Saudi Arabia, 
married with four children.

Mr. Al Howar has a higher diploma 
in banking from the Arab Institute of 
Banking in Amman, Jordan. He attended 
International	Executive	Programs	at	the	
University of Virginia’s Darden Graduate 
School of Business Administration, and 
at the Northwestern University’s Kellogg 
Graduate School of Management. Mr. Al 
Howar’s distinguished 26 years of retail 
banking	experience	has	been	with	NCB,	
where he currently holds a position as 
SEVP, Head of Individual Banking Sector.

Mr.	Al	Howar	is	also	on	the	Executive	
Board of the following;

1.	Saudi	Credit	Bureau	(SIMAH)
    Chairman of the Board

2.	Arab	Financial	Services,	Bahrain	(AFS)	
    Deputy Chairman

3. Al Ahli Takaful Company 
    Board Member

4. Stusid Bank of Tunisia
    Member of the Board of Directors and
				Executive	Committee

Additionally, he is a member of the
following Committees in NCB

1.	Executive	Management	Committee

2. Senior Human Resource Committee

3. Assets and Liabilities Committee 

4. NCB I.T. Board

Directorships

•	Board	Member,	Arab Banking 
   Corporation Bahrain

•	Chairman,	ABC International Bank, 
   plc, U.K.

•	Chairman,	Arab Banking Corporation, 
   Egypt.

•	Chairman,	Arab Banking Corporation, 
   Jordan

•	Chairman,	Arab Financial Services 
   Company B.S.C, (AFS)-Bahrain

•	Ex-Chief	Executive	Officer	&	Managing
   Director, National Bank of Bahrain.

•	Ex-Chairman,	Bahrain 
   Telecommunication  
   Company (Batelco).

•	Ex-Chairman,	Umniah Mobile 
   Company, Jordan.

Awards

•	Bahrain	Government’s	Award	for 
   distinguished contributions towards 
   the development of Bahraini nationals.

•	HR	Leadership	Award,	World	HRD 
   Congress-February 2006

•	“Arab	Banker	of	the	Year	–	2001”	by 
    the Union of Arab Banks

•	Muharraq	Citizens	Leaders	and 
   Pioneers Award
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Mr. Saleh Hussain
Director, AC 

Chairman of Solidarity 
General Takafal, Bahrain and 
President of Saleh Hussain 
Consultancy, Bahrain. Mr. 
Hussain is a Bahraini with a 
Master’s	Degree	(MBA)	from	
Brunel University in the United 
Kingdom. 

He has been in the banking 
industry since 1970. He held 
the position of the General 
Manager of The Saudi 
National Commercial Bank 
in Bahrain for over 15 years 
before he moved on to be the 
Regional Head of the National 
Commercial Bank, Corporate 
Banking Group in Eastern 
Province	(from	2005	to	2007).	
He has a wealth of knowledge 
on banking practices in the 
region as well as in Asia 
Pacific.

He has more than 35 years of 
experience	from	the	various	
positions he has held with 
both Regional & International 
Banks. He was a member of 
the	Executive	Committee	of	
Bahrain Bankers Society for 
a number of years and his 
last position was as Deputy 
Chairman. He holds a number 
of board and committee 
directorships of banks and 
financial institutions inside 
and outside Bahrain. He 
authored number of books 
both in Arabic and English 
on the subject of Corporate 
Governance.

Mr. Suleiman Essa Azzabi
Director, AC

The Deputy General Manager 
Al Wahda Bank, Libya and 
former General Manager, 
Foreign	Exchange	&	Financial	
Services, Libya.

Mr.	Suleiman	Al	Azzabi	has	a	
major in Business 
Administration Accounting, 
from School of 
Economics, Garyounis 
University and has honours 
in Master of Business 
Administration from Arab 
Academy of Jordan. He began 
his career as a lecturer of 
Administration at Al Fateh 
University in Tripoli. He left the 
world of academics in 1988 
to join the Libyan Foreign 
Bank,	gaining	experience	by	
way of working in its several 
departments.

In 1997, with his vast 
experience	and	expertise,	Mr.	
Suleiman	Al	Azzabi	started	up	
the Financial Leasing Co. in 
Turkey, in the capacity of the 
Assistant General Manager. 
In 2004, he moved on to 
become the General Manager 
of	the	Foreign	Exchange	and	
Financial Services in Libya. In 
2005, he was nominated as 
a Board Member assigned to 
put together and establish the 
laws governing financial loans 
in Libya.

Mr. Sael Al Waary 
Director

B.Sc.	(Hons)	degree	in	
Computer Sciences from the 
University of Reading, United 
Kingdom. 

Mr. Al Waary was appointed 
Group Chief Operating Officer 
of the ABC Group in 2006. 
Prior to that, he was Senior 
Vice President and Head 
of Group Support. In 1997, 
Mr. Al Waary relocated from 
London to the Bahrain Head 
Office to direct ABC’s Global 
Information Technology 
functions. Mr. Al Waary 
originally joined the ABC 
Group in 1981 and, from 1986, 
was the General Manager of 
ABC	(IT)	Services	Ltd.,	the	
wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
ABC Group.

He has over 30 years of 
experience	in	banking.	Mr.	
Al Waary is a Director of 
Arab Banking Corporation 
Egypt	(S.A.E.),	Arab	Banking	
Corporation	(Jordan)	and	
Bahrain-based Arab Financial 
Services	(AFS).

Mr. Adnan Habeeb Hashim
Director, AC

Mr. Hashim is the Chief 
Financial Officer of NCB 
Capital, the Investment arm 
of The National Commercial 
Bank of Saudi Arabia and 
the General Manager of NCB 
Capital, Bahrain.

Mr. Hashim is a U.K. Certified 
Chartered	Accountant	(ACCA)	
and holds a Master’s Degree in 
Business Administration from 
the University of Strathclyde. 

He has over 18 years of 
experience	in	the	banking	
industry. Before joining  NCB 
Capital, he was working in the 
Finance Division of NCB in 
both the Jeddah Head Office 
and Bahrain branch. He had 
the additional responsibilities 
of being the designated Money 
Laundering Reporting Officer 
and Compliance Officer for the 
Central Bank of Bahrain. His 
last role at NCB was Senior 
Financial Controller for the 
Asset Management Sector, 
which covered the Treasury, 
Investment Services, Asset 
Management, Brokerage and 
Investment Banking Divisions 
as well as the Bahrain branch. 
He sits on the Boards and 
Audit Committees of various 
financial institutions.

AC: Member of the Audit Committee
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Mansour Djebli 
Head of Operations

Mansour	has	over	20	years’	experience	in	full	
project life cycle for systems development, 
products deployment and service delivery 
gained in global companies. Mansour brings 
a wealth of payment industry knowledge and 
process improvements. He has successfully 
led international cross-functional teams 
and multi-million dollar high risk projects in 
complex	environments.	

Mansour	has	worked	for	American	Express	
Technologies for over 11 years where he led 
the implementation, integration and migration 
of various global systems and was key to the 
establishment of the finance IT development 
group responsible for servicing the finance 
resource centre EMEA region. He also led 
implementation of the imaging and workflow 
initiative	undertaken	by	American	Express	
Finance in EMEA and India.

Mansour combines both business and 
technical	knowledge	with	a	broad	experience	
in finance, process re-engineering, 
programme management, EMV, workflow, 
electronic document and record 
management, and web technologies
in general.

Management team

B Chandrasekhar
Chief	Executive	Officer	

Chandrasekhar has over 24 years of 
retail	banking	experience	across	multiple	
geographies and roles. He has worked for 
over 23 years with Standard Chartered 
Bank across India, Bahrain, Lebanon and 
UAE. He joined Arab Banking Corporation in 
August 2010 as Group Head of Products and 
Marketing and he is the CEO of AFS since 
March 2011.

During	his	work	experience	with	Standard	
Chartered Bank- he held the positions of 
Regional Head of Credit Cards and Personal 
Loans for Middle East, South Asia and Africa 
from 2003 to 2008 and was the Regional 
Head of Consumer Banking for Northern 
Gulf, Lebanon and Jordan from 2008-2010. 

Chandra was also a Board Director on the 
BENEFIT company in Bahrain from 2008-
2010. Chandrasekhar holds a MBA from the 
Indian Institute of Management Calcutta and 
a Bachelor of Engineering Degree from Delhi 
College of Engineering.

Neil Pavis
Deputy	Chief	Executive	Officer	

Neil	has	more	than	30	years	of	experience	in	
the ICT services sector with the last 19 years 
spent in the specialist area of unsecured 
lending. Prior to joining AFS, he spent 7 
years with First Data Asia Pacific in senior 
management roles with his last position as 
Vice President, Systems Delivery for Australia 
& New Zealand.

Throughout his career Neil has consulted 
to many of the top major financial services 
clients	such	as	GE	Money,	Experian,	Westpac	
Banking Group and Capgemini across 
Europe, Africa and Asia Pacific. In addition 
Neil	has	global	experience	in	payment	
transaction processing/switching, unsecured 
lending, debit and pre-paid products.

Neil holds a Master’s degree in Business 
Management from Macquarie Graduate 
School	of	Management	(MGSM),	is	a	
fellow of the Financial Services Institute of 
Australasia and an Associate Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Management.
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Ebrahim Jassim
Head of Finance & Admin

Ebrahim has more than 15 years 
of	experience	in	payments	
industry and joined AFS Finance 
team in 1996. 

Ebrahim comes with a wealth 
of knowledge in Accounting, 
Investment and Cash 
Management. He served in 
American	Express	Middle	East	
and was a key player in the 
team managing the project to 
automate the Customer Receipt 
Collection system in EMEA 
offices.

Ebrahim holds diploma in 
IFRS study and pursuing his 
CMA professional certification 
program.

Adil Al Hoori
Head of Human Resources

Adil Al Hoori is the Head of 
Human Resources. Prior to 
joining AFS Adil worked for 14 
years	at	American	Express	in	
various roles. 

He has an MBA degree from 
University College of Bahrain. 
Before joining AFS, Adil was 
heading the Training and 
Development one of the premier 
Construction Groups on the 
Island.

Adil has a wide range of 
experience	in	HR	related	areas	
and this includes identification, 
training and development of 
Bahraini nationals and increasing 
employee morale through 
dedicated staff programs and 
events.

Koushik Iyer 
Head	of	Client	Relationship	–	
Platinum 

Koushik has over 10 years of 
experience	in	the	Payment	Card	
business in various capacities in 
the Middle East and North Africa.

Koushik heads up the client 
relationship function at AFS. 
He is currently responsible for 
AFS	existing	client	revenue	&	
relationship for AFS in Middle 
East and North Africa region. 
Prior to AFS Koushik worked with 
VPS	(Visa	Processing	Services)	at	
Visa International where he was 
handling Sales & Relationship for 
Visa’s Central European Middle 
East and Africa region. Koushik 
has	experience	in	solution,	
design and development, of 
card applications and is highly 
knowledgeable of the processing 
industry, its players and regional 
nuances. 

Koushik is an Engineering 
Graduate from National Institute 
of Technology, Trichy, India.

Partha Saha
Head, Business Development

Partha has over 15 years of 
experience	in	the	Payment	Card	
business in various capacities 
in the Middle East and India. 
He has worked closely with 
card associations, card issuers, 
banks, regulators, retailers 
and petroleum companies and 
has been actively engaged in 
development of new solutions 
and services for them.

Partha has successfully 
led multi-cultural sales and 
operations teams. Prior to joining 
AFS in 2008, Partha was General 
Manager-Sales & Marketing with 
Venture Infotek Global, a leading 
payment transaction processing 
company in India, where 
he played pivotal role in the 
strategic business development 
of the company. 

Partha is a Computer Science 
Graduate from National Institute 
of Technology, Calicut, India.
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Kunal Taneja 
Head of Compliance, Operational 
Risk and Information Security

Kunal has over 10 years of 
experience	in	Compliance,	
Operational Risk & Information 
Security field. Prior to joining 
AFS, he worked for various 
top consulting firms such 
as Accenture, E4E & MIEL 
eSecurities where he led multiple 
client engagements across 
financial and telecom industries 
for regulatory compliance 
towards PCI DSS, ISO 27001/
BS7799, BASEL II, SOX 
standards.

He joined AFS in February 
2008 to head the PCI DSS 
project and is now Head of 
Compliance, Operational 
Risk and Information Security 
division where he engages in 
development and implementation 
of Basel II compliant operational 
risk framework. Kunal and 
collaborates with business 
units to implement the key 
risk	indicator	(KRI)	program,	
operational loss data collection 
process and risk & control self - 
assessment	(RCSA)	process.	

Kunal holds a Master’s degree in 
Computer	Science,	specialized	
in Information Security from 
Symbiosis International 
University Pune and a Bachelor’s 
degree in Information Technology 
from Manipal Academy of Higher 
Education. Holds professional 
certifications: PCI ISA, CISM, ISO 
27001 Lead Implementer, CCSA 
(Checkpoint),	CSSA	(Sonicwall),	
CCNA	(CISCO).

Hasan Al Rashedi
Head of IT infrastructure

Hasan comes with a very 
strong IT background and 
excellent	organisational	
skills. He has many years of 
experience	in	all	technology	
areas like variety of hardware 
platforms, network architectures, 
storage, voice technology, 
and telecommunications. His 
management	experience	includes	
working with multinational 
organisations managing the IT 
operations, and setting up the 
IT organisation involving both 
people as well as the technology 
infrastructure. He joined Euronet 
Middle East - a subsidiary of 
AFS - in 2005 as Manager IT and 
Infrastructure and was promoted 
to Head of IT for both JV partner 
organisations AFS and Euronet 
Middle East.

Hasan worked for HSBC Bank 
heading the Office
Automation department, Bahrain 
Stock	Exchange	in	which	he	took	
a leading role in setting up the 
new IT infrastructure and new 
trading system and American 
Express	Middle	East	where	
he headed the data centre, IT 
Operations and help desk.

Hasan holds a B.Sc. degree in 
computer science.

Mohammed Fraij
Head of Product Development

Mohammed has over 25 years 
of	experience	in	payment	
card products and systems 
development. Mohammed brings 
a wealth of knowledge in the 
implementation of payment card 
solutions.

He has been with AFS for 
the last 10 years and has 
successfully implemented the 
payment card services for 
many international and regional 
banks. The implementations 
include start-up portfolios and 
complex	migrations.	Mohammed	
is a core member of the new 
product initiative at AFS and has 
successfully introduced several 
value-added services.  

Mohammed holds a Bachelor of 
Computer Science.    

Shiraz Ali 
Head of Internal Audit

Shiraz	has	over	10	years	of	
experience	in	internal	audit,	
information systems audit, risk 
management, compliance and 
corporate governance across 
Pakistan and Middle East. Prior 
to joining AFS in July 2008, 
Shiraz	was	associated	with	Al-
Rajhi	Islamic	Bank	(KSA)	holding	
a senior position in the audit 
function. He has also worked at 
State	Bank	of	Pakistan	(Central	
Bank)	where	he	helped	the	bank	
in transforming a traditional 
internal audit function into a 
robust assurance and consulting 
service, designed for value 
addition.

He is a Certified Internal Auditor 
(CIA),	Certified	Information	
Systems	Auditor	(CISA),	and	
BS7799 Information Security 
Management Systems Lead 
Auditor. He also holds an MBA 
from Institute of Business 
Administration, Karachi; and 
a Bachelor of Engineering 
(Computer	Systems)	from	NED	
University of Engineering & 
Technology, Karachi, Pakistan. 

Shiraz	heads	the	Internal	Audit	
department at AFS; and reports 
to the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors.

Management team
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our team has risen higher
               to meet challenges

“AFS had another profitable year in 2011.
We thank our customers for their business, 

our shareholders for their continued support and
our staff for their hard work and dedication.”

B.	Chandrasekhar	-	Chief	Executive	Officer
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Management ReviewDear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to announce that AFS had another profitable year 
in 2011. We delivered a strong performance by  ning our growth 
momentum on core revenues.  This was aided by greater client 
focus and investments in our infrastructure. A number of strategic 
initiatives enabled us in strengthening our leadership position and 
enhancing our relationship with our clients.

Our consolidated financial results for the year 2011 report a 6% 
increase in net profit to US$4.7 million from US$4.4 million in 
2010. This was aided by organic growth in processing revenues, 
a better return on our investment portfolio and profit made on sale 
of	our	shares	in	our	subsidiary	–	Euronet	Middle	East.	

2011 Key Highlights

VisionPLUS License Renewal
Last year we entered into a long term partnership with First Data, 
a global leader in electronic commerce and payment solutions, 
by renewing the license to use the industry leading VisionPLUS 
processing technology. It demonstrated our commitment to serve 
our clients in the region and beyond by offering the cutting edge of 
technology and a stable platform to meet their long term financial 
needs. We have over 15 years of enduring partnership with First 
Data	and	the	extension	of	the	VisionPLUS license enables us to 
continually develop new products and services for our clients.

Offshore Disaster Recovery Center
Last	 year	 we	 relocated	 our	 Disaster	 Recovery	 Centre	 (DRC)	 to	
Dubai to ensure uninterrupted support services to our clients. 
Prompt decision making and swift actions enabled us in moving 
the DRC to Dubai in a record time period of 60 days without 
any impact to our clients’ operations. We have made significant 
investments to upgrade our disaster recovery capabilities to 
world-class standards.  I am proud to report that, today, AFS is 
the only third party processor in MENA with an offshore DRC. 
We wish to thank both Visa and MasterCard for their support in 
helping us establish the DR site in Dubai in record time.

New IBM Z114 Series Platform
As part of our application infrastructure upgrade process, we 
purchased	the	latest	IBM	z114	Mainframes	for	both	our	primary	
site in Bahrain and our DRC in Dubai.  Supplied and maintained by 
Bahrain	Business	Machines	(BBM),	the	advanced	IBM	Mainframe	
Machine will provide us a world-class platform to integrate and 
centrally	manage	our	IT	resources.	The	new	upgrade	is	expected	
to boost our service efficiency by 51% and streamline AFS’ 
electronic payments, records management and customer service 
processes.	 The	 second	 IBM	 z114	 machine	 to	 be	 installed	 at	
our DR site in Dubai will provide a 400% increase in processing 
capability and allow for both the machines to run simultaneously 
if necessary to support growing client demands and operational 
efficiency.

New Business and Cross Sell Activities
In	2011	–	we	were	successful	in	adding	new	partner	banks	and	
in	cross	selling	our	value	added	services	to	our	existing	clients.	
We have signed a significant number of member banks for our 3D 
Secure	services	–	which	ensure	internet	transactions	are	protected	
with a second level of security protecting both the cardholder and 
mitigating risk to the banks.

Growing beyond the borders
Geographical boundaries do not restrict our aspirations to seek 
new opportunities. In our relentless pursuit to increase our 
presence	 and	 achieve	 greater	 targets,	 we	 are	 expanding	 our	
presence in the MENA region and we plan to strengthen our 
market presence in the GCC, the wider Middle East and African 
markets.  Emerging markets will continue to be a major part of our 
growth	strategy	and	we	are	prepared	to	fully	capitalize	on	these	
potential opportunities.

Technology and Innovation
As the pioneer and leader in our business field, we have always been 
at the forefront of embracing new technologies and introducing 
innovative products and services.  This has continued throughout 
2011, whilst keeping a finger on the pulse of the financial markets, 
we	have	explored	new	opportunities.	Our	 technology	 team	has	
designed a series of new products to take advantage of emerging 
trend which will be included in our platform roadmap. We plan to 
roll-out several new payment card initiatives and technologies in 

2012. This reaffirms our commitment to offer a comprehensive 
range of most advanced solutions to our growing clientele.

In order to provide prompt and efficient support services to our 
clients, we have strengthened our Call Centre facility by recruiting 
new personnel. We continue to run the Global Travellers Cheque 
refund service from Visa International and proud that we have a 
perfect	service	record.	We	plan	to	expand	our	call	centre	services	
to include both new clients and services.

Compliance
A considerable amount of investment has been made to upgrade 
our infrastructure and security mechanisms and our processes to 
ensure	full	compliance.	AFS	has	been	PCI	DSS	compliant	 (now	
V2.0	certified)	for	the	4th	successive	year.	We	have	also	achieved	
the ISO 9001:2008 re-certification which is another testament 
to AFS’ world-class capabilities and standards. Moreover, we 
continue to remain Visa and MasterCard certified.

Showcasing Our Competency
As an active participant in various payment industry forums and 
events in the region, we remained in the limelight throughout 
2011. We regard these forums as a highly beneficial platform 
to demonstrate our capabilities to prospective clients and so 
expand	our	business.	We	will	continue	to	explore	and	utilize	such	
opportunities going forward.

New Aspirations, Greater Prospects
Today AFS is well positioned for the future and poised for greater 
achievements. We have not only boosted our infrastructure and 
technology but also bolstered our main asset - our team. We 
have appointed a new Deputy CEO and our dedicated Client 
Relationship team has been augmented by recruiting top-notch 
industry	professionals.	They	have	 the	experience	and	expertise	
to improve our operations with fresh ideas and creative thinking. 
We will support our staff by ensuring both a productive work 
environment and boosting their morale through inspiring training 
sessions and innovative opportunities.  

In 2012, we must ensure strong revenue growth.  Whilst this will 
be achieved by stronger client focus and marketing, we have 
to ensure that revenue growth is faster than our cost growth.  
Economic revival in GCC & MENA and increased usage of plastics 
will contribute to this.  In addition, we are committed to maintaining 
tight cost discipline to maintain our profitability.

In conclusion, I would like to thank our Chairman, the members of 
the AFS Board, the management team and valued shareholders 
and customers for their continued strong support. I also take this 
opportunity to thank my colleagues and staff members for their 
commitment and hard work.  It is a privilege to lead a vibrant and 
motivated team that through its efforts and energy resulted in a 
successful year for us all. 

Together we have achieved a great year in 2011. Let’s look forward 
to another successful year in 2012.

B Chandrasekhar
Chief	Executive	Officer	
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highly efficient 
   fully integrated financial solutions

Overview of Services

As the Middle East’s leading provider of electronic 
payment and consumer-finance outsourcing services. AFS 
enables banks and financial institutions throughout the 
region to concentrate on their core competencies secure 
in the knowledge that all of their transactions processing 
requirements are being handled to the highest standards.

The highly reliable, robust and scalable nature of our 
solutions combined with our deep understanding of the 
financial	sector	mean	that	you	can	expect	a	level	of	service	
which truly reflects globally accepted practice. 

AFS is committed to providing fully integrated solutions 
that encompass all aspects of payment and transaction 
processing services, illustrated by the breadth of services 
listed on this page.

Card solutions

Credit, Debit, Charge, Corporate, Islamic, Prepaid, 
Payroll and Internet

•	Back	Office	Operations

•	Fraud	Monitoring

•	SMS	Services

•	Mobile	Commerce

•	Loyalty	Management

•	24x7	Contact	Centre

•	Data	Analytics	and	Modeling

•	Merchant	Acquiring

•	Card	Personalization	

•	Printing	and	Fulfillment

•	Logistics	and	Courier	Support
   
•	Technical	Consultancy

•	Sponsorship	–	Visa	and	Master	card

•	ATM	&	PoS	Services
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financial statements

highly efficient 
   fully integrated financial solutions
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c)   
      

Report on the financial statements
         
We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	Arab	Financial	Services	Company	B.S.C.	(c)	[the	Company]	
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and the statements of income, comprehensive 
income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other	explanatory	information.	         
         
Board of Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements       
  
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.         

Auditors’ responsibility 
        
Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	financial	statements	based	on	our	audit.		We	conducted	our	audit	in	
accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.          

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.       
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.        

Opinion 
        
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 
31 December 2011, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.         
         
Report on other regulatory requirements  
        
As	required	by	the	Bahrain	Commercial	Companies	Law	and	the	Central	Bank	of	Bahrain	(CBB)	Rule	Book	(Volume	5)
we report that: 
         
a)	the	Company	has	maintained	proper	accounting	records	and	the	financial	statements	are	in	agreement
    therewith; and          

b)	the	financial	information	contained	in	chairman’s	report	is	consistent	with	the	financial	statements.	 	 	
     
We are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial 
Institutions	Law,	the	CBB	Rule	Book	(Volume	5	and	applicable	provisions	of	Volume	6)	and	CBB	directives	or	the	terms	
of the Company’s memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2011 that might have 
had	a	material	adverse	effect	on	the	business	of	the	Company	or	on	its	financial	position.	Satisfactory	explanations	and	
information have been provided to us by management in response to all our requests.    
     

         

         
            
6th February 2012         
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain         

Ernst & Young



22 ARAB FINANCIAL SERVICES COMPANY B.S.C.(c)

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000Note

ASSETS

Cash in hand and balances with banks 

        and the Central Bank of Bahrain 5  3,252  4,479 

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 6  40,215  42,688 

Investments 7  13,027  13,180 

Investment in joint venture 8  -  1,710 

Accounts receivable, prepayments and other assets 9  11,579  3,187 

Property and equipment 10  7,473  7,119 

TOTAL ASSETS  75,546  72,363 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption  4,682  4,907 

Accounts payable and accruals 11  6,708  5,757 

Other liabilities and provisions 12  781  693 

Total liabilities  12,171  11,357 

Equity

Share capital 13  45,000  45,000 

Treasury shares 13  (3,212) (3,212)

Statutory reserve 14  9,952  9,485 

Capital reserve 14  150  150 

General reserve 14  1,997  1,997 

Retained earnings  5,559  3,608 

Cumulative changes in fair values  1,679  1,278 

Proposed dividend 15  2,250  2,700 

Total equity  63,375  61,006 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  75,546  72,363 

___________________________

Sael Al Waary 
Director 

___________________________

Hassan Juma
Chairman 

___________________________

B. Chandrasekhar 
Chief	Executive	Officer

Statement of Financial Position
at 31 December 2011        

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these financial statements
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2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000Note

Card centre revenue 16  16,201  15,612 

Travellers' cheques revenue  47  56 

Investment income - net 17  1,032  650 

Other operating income  723  930 

Gain on sale of joint venture 8  4,447  - 

Share of profit from joint venture 8  341  402 

Exceptional	item 18  -  1,637 

 22,791  19,287 

Staff	expenses  7,562  6,904 

Depreciation 10  1,384  1,525 

Other	operating	expenses 19  9,111  6,449 

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 7  66  2 

 18,123  14,880 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  4,668  4,407 

Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	(US$) 20  0.82  0.77 

Dividend	per	share	(US$) 21  0.40  0.47 

Statement of Income
Year ended 31 December 2011       
 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these financial statements
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2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Profit for the year  4,668  4,407 

Other comprehensive income

Net change in fair values of available-for-sale investments  401 	(202)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  5,069  4,205 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2011       
 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these financial statements.
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2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000Note

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year  4,668  4,407 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 10  1,384  1,525 

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 7  66  2 

Write-back of impairment of accounts receivable 9  (10) 	(235)

Gain on sale of available-for-sale investments 17  - 	(160)

Gain on sale of joint venture 8  (4,447)  - 

Share of profit from joint venture 8  (341) 	(402)

Exceptional	item 18  - 	(1,637)

Gain on sale of investments at fair value 

       through statement of income 17  (640)  - 

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities  680  3,500 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions

       with an original maturity of more than 90 days (243) 	(63)

Accounts receivable, prepayments and other assets (2,007)  633 

Travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption (225) 	(37)

Accounts payable and accruals 951 	(483)

Other liabilities and provisions 88  131 

Net	cash	(used	in)	from	operating	activities (756)  3,681 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividend received from joint venture  123  - 

Proceeds from sale of investments 1,128  424 

Purchase of property and equipment 10  (1,738) 	(1,275)

Net cash used in investing activities (487) 	(851)

FINANCING ACTIVITY

Dividend paid  (2,700) 	(2,700)

Net cash used in financing activity  (2,700) 	(2,700)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,943)  130 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  35,498  35,368 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 22 31,555  35,498 

Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2011       
 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these financial statements.
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Cumulative
changes in
fair values

US$ 000

Share
capital

US$ 000

Treasury
shares

US$ 000

Statutory
reserve

US$ 000

Capital
reserve

US$ 000

General
reserve

US$ 000

Retained
earnings
US$ 000

Proposed
dividend
US$ 000

Total
equity

US$ 000Note

Balance at 1 January 2011  45,000 	(3,212)  9,485  150  1,997  3,608  1,278  2,700  61,006 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  4,668  -  -  4,668 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  401  -  401 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  4,668  401  -  5,069 

Transfer to statutory reserve 14  -  -  467  -  - 	(467)  -  -  - 

Dividend paid for 2010  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 	(2,700) 	(2,700)

Proposed dividend for 2011 15  -  -  -  -  - 	(2,250)  -  2,250  - 

Balance at 31 December 2011  45,000  (3,212)  9,952  150  1,997  5,559  1,679  2,250  63,375 

Balance at 1 January 2010  45,000 	(3,212)  9,045  150  1,997  2,341  1,480  2,700  59,501 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  4,407  -  -  4,407 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 	(202)  - 	(202)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -  -  4,407 	(202)  -  4,205 

Transfer to statutory reserve 14  -  -  440  -  - 	(440)  -  -  - 

Dividend paid for 2009  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 	(2,700) 	(2,700)

Proposed dividend for 2010 15  -  -  -  -  - 	(2,700)  -  2,700  - 

Balance at 31 December 2010  45,000 	(3,212)  9,485  150  1,997  3,608  1,278  2,700  61,006 

Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2011       
 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these financial statements.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
        
Incorporation             
Arab	Financial	Services	Company	B.S.C.	(c)	[the	Company]	is	a	closed	joint	stock	company	incorporated	on	18	April	1984	in	
the Kingdom of Bahrain and registered with the Ministry of Industry and Commerce under commercial registration number 
14777.	The	Company	is	a	54.6%	(2010:	54.6%)	owned	subsidiary	of	Arab	Banking	Corporation	(B.S.C.)	[the	Parent].	The	
postal	address	of	the	Company’s	registered	office	is	P	O	Box	2152,	Manama,	Kingdom	of	Bahrain.		 	 	
             
Activities            
The Company is engaged in electronic bureau processing and the sponsoring and marketing of personal payment 
instructions.	Effective	from	1	March	2011,	the	Central	Bank	of	Bahrain	(the	CBB)	amended	the	Company’s	operating	licence	
from ‘wholesale banking’ to ‘ancillary services’.          
             
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 February 2012.    
            
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION          
             
Statement of compliance           
The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	[IFRS]	as	
issued	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	[IASB]	and	the	applicable	provisions	of	the	Bahrain	Commercial	
Companies	Law	and	the	Central	Bank	of	Bahrain	and	Financial	Institutions	Law,	the	CBB	Rule	Book	(Volume	5	and	
applicable	provisions	of	Volume	6)	and	the	relevant	CBB	directives.	 	 	 	 	 	 	
             
Accounting convention           
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for the measurement at fair 
value of available-for-sale investments and investments at fair value through statement of income.    
              
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements have been presented in United States Dollars being the Company’s functional currency, rounded to 
the	nearest	thousand	(US$	000),	except	when	otherwise	indicated.	 	 	 	 	 	 	
            
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES         
            
The accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation	of	the	Company’s	annual	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010	except	that	the	Company	
has adopted the following new and amended IASB Standards and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee	(IFRIC)	Interpretations	which	became	effective	in	2011:	 	 	 	 	 	 	
             
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendment)
The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the identification of related party relationships, particularly 
in relation to significant influence or joint control. The new definitions emphasise a symmetrical view on related party 
relationship as well as clarifying in which circumstances persons and key management personnel affect related party 
relationships	of	an	entity.	Secondly,	the	amendment	introduces	an	exemption	from	the	general	related	party	disclosure	
requirements for transactions with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced 
by the same government as the reporting entity. The adoption of the amendment did not have any impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Company.          
 
IAS 32 Financial instruments: presentation (amendment)
The amendment alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to enable entities to classify rights issues and certain 
options	or	warrants	as	equity	instruments.	The	amendment	is	applicable	if	the	rights	are	given	pro-rata	to	all	of	the	existing	
owners	of	the	same	class	of	an	entity’s	non-derivative	equity	instruments,	to	acquire	a	fixed	number	of	the	entity’s	own	
equity	instruments	for	a	fixed	amount	in	any	currency.	The	amendment	has	had	no	effect	on	the	financial	position	or	
performance of the Company as the Company has not issued these type of instruments.     
              
 

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
              
IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures (amendment)        
These amendments introduced new disclosure requirements for transfers of financial assets, including disclosures for: 
            

•	financial	assets	that	are	not	derecognised	in	their	entirety;	and		 	 	 	 	 	 	
              

•	financial	assets	that	are	derecognised	in	their	entirety	but	for	which	the	entity	retains	continuing	involvement.	 	

The amendment has had no effect on the disclosures made by the Company as the Company has not issued these types 
of instruments.            
             

Improvements to IFRSs           
In May 2010 the Board issued its third omnibus amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to removing 
inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The adoption of the 
following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies, but did not have any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Company.
            

IFRS	3	Business	Combinations:	The	measurement	options	available	for	non-controlling	interest	(NCI)	have	been	
amended.   Only components of NCI that constitute a present ownership interest that entitles their holder to a 
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation must be measured at either fair value or at the 
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components are 
to be measured at their acquisition date fair value.        
   
IFRS	7	Financial	Instruments	–	Disclosures:	The	amendment	was	intended	to	simplify	the	disclosures	provided,	by	
reducing the volume of disclosures around collateral held and improving disclosures by requiring qualitative information 
to	put	the	quantitative	information	in	context.	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
              

IFRS	7	Financial	Instruments	–	Disclosures:	The	amendments	add	an	explicit	statement	that	qualitative	disclosure	
should	be	made	in	the	context	of	the	quantitative	disclosures	to	better	enable	users	to	evaluate	an	entity’s	exposure	to	
risks arising from financial instruments.           
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies that an analysis of each component of other 
comprehensive income may be presented either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial 
statements.             
            

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs to the following standards did not have any impact on the 
accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Company:       
     

•	IFRS	3	Business	Combinations	(Contingent	consideration	arising	from	business	combination	prior	to	adoption	of	IFRS
			3(as		revised	in	2008)		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

•	IFRS	3	Business	Combinations	(Un-replaced	and	voluntarily	replaced	share-based	payment	award);	 	 	
 
•	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements;			 	 	 	 	 	 	
   
•	IAS	34	Interim	Financial	Statements;	and	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
  
•	IFRIC	19	Extinguishing	Financial	Liabilities	with	Equity	Instruments.	 	 	 	
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
 
Significant accounting policies are set out below:         
  
Cash and cash equivalents           
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances with banks, 
deposits	with	banks	and	other	financial	institutions	and	the	Central	Bank	of	Bahrain	(excluding	the	statutory	and	collateral	
deposits)	with	original	maturities	of	less	than	ninety	days.	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
  
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions       
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions are initially measured at cost, being the fair value of consideration given. 
 
Following the initial recognition, deposits with banks and other financial institutions are stated at cost less any amount 
written-off and specific provisions for impairment, if any.        
  
Investments             
Held-to-maturity            
Held-to-maturity	investments	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	which	carry	fixed	or	determinable	payments	and	fixed	
maturities and for which the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These investments are initially 
recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments 
are measured at amortised cost less impairment. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus  principal 
repayments, plus  or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the 
initially recognised amount and the maturity amount, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and 
losses are recognised in the statement of income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process.       

Available-for-sale           
Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale. These 
investments are initially recognised at fair value including directly attributable transaction costs. After initial measurement, 
available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses being recognised directly in the 
statement of comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss recorded 
in the statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the statement of income, or determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative loss recorded in the statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the statement of income. 
             
Investments at fair value through statement of income        
Investments at fair value through statement of income represent investments designated upon initial recognition as fair 
value	through	statement	of	income.	These	investments	are	initially	recognised	at	fair	value.	Transaction	costs	are	expensed	
in the statement of income. All subsequent gains and losses arising from remeasurement at fair value are recognised in the 
statement of income.            
             
Accounts receivable            
Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for 
doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when there is no 
probability of recovery.            

Investment in joint venture           
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement, whereby the venturers undertake an economic activity with another entity that is 
subject to joint control. The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting.     
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
              
Investment in joint venture (continued)         
Under the equity method, the joint venture is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post acquisition 
changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the joint venture. The statement of income reflects the Company’s share 
of the results of operations of the joint venture. Where there has been a change recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income of the joint venture, the Company recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in other 
comprehensive income.  Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Company and the joint 
venture	are	eliminated	to	the	extent	of	the	Company’s	interest	in	joint	venture.	 	 	 	 	 	
      
The reporting dates of the joint venture and the Company are identical and the joint venture’s accounting policies conform to 
those used by the Company for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.     
 
The carrying value of investment in a joint venture is reviewed for impairment when there is an indication that the asset 
has	been	impaired,	or	that	the	impairment	losses	recognised	in	prior	years	no	longer	exist.	Whenever	the	impairment	
requirements of IAS 36 indicate that the investment in a joint venture may be impaired, the entire carrying amount of the 
investment is tested by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying value. The recoverable amount of an asset or a 
cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Goodwill is included in the carrying 
amount of investment in a joint venture and, therefore, is not separately tested for impairment.     
      
Property and equipment           
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Freehold land is not 
depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite useful life. 

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate	the	carrying	value	may	not	be	recoverable.	If	any	such	indication	exists	and	where	the	carrying	values	exceed	the	
estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value 
less costs to sells and their value in use.          
   
Expenditure	incurred	to	replace	a	component	of	an	item	of	property	and	equipment	that	is	accounted	for	separately	is	
capitalised	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	component	that	is	replaced	is	written	off.		Other	subsequent	expenditure	
is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property and equipment.  All other 
expenditure	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	income	as	the	expense	is	incurred.		 	 	 	 	
     
Travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption         
Travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption are stated at cost less provision for unclaimed amounts.

Provision	for	travellers’	cheques	awaiting	redemption,	based	on	the	Company’s	past	experience,	is	made	for	the	estimated	
net cost to the Company of lost travellers’ cheques unpaid as of the date of the statement of financial position. Adjustments 
to the provisions are reflected in the statement of income as they become necessary.     
     
Accounts payable and accruals 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the supplier
or not.          

Provisions
Provisions	are	recognised	when	the	Company	has	a	present	obligation	(legal	or	constructive)	as	a	result	of	a	past	event,	it	
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.        
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
   
Employees’ end of service benefits
The	Company	provides	end	of	service	benefits	to	its	expatriate	employees	in	accordance	with	the	relevant	regulations.		The	
entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salaries and length of service, subject to the completion of 
a	minimum	service	period.	The	expected	costs	of	these	benefits	are	accrued	over	the	period	of	employment	based	on	the	
notional amount payable if all employees had left at the statement of financial position date.    
        
With respect to its national employees, the Company makes contributions to the Social Insurance Organisation calculated as 
a percentage of the employees’ salaries in accordance with the relevant regulations. The Company’s obligations are limited 
to	these	contributions,	which	are	expensed	when	due.	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
  
Treasury shares            
Own	equity	instruments	which	are	reacquired	(treasury	shares)	are	recognised	at	cost	and	deducted	from	equity.	No	gain	
or loss is recognised in the statement of income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity 
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration is recognised in equity.   
   
Impairment of financial assets
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a 
specific financial asset may be impaired. A financial asset is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of	impairment	as	a	result	of	one	or	more	events	that	has	occurred	after	the	initial	recognition	of	the	asset	(an	incurred	‘loss	
event’)	and	that	loss	event	has	an	impact	on	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	financial	asset	that	can	be	reliably	
estimated.	Evidence	of	impairment	may	include	indications	that	the	debtor	or	group	of	debtors	is	experiencing	significant	
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash	flows,	such	as	changes	in	arrears	or	economic	conditions	that	correlate	with	defaults.	If	such	evidence	exists,	any	
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of income. Impairment is determined as follows:     
           

(a)	For	assets	carried	at	fair	value,	impairment	is	the	difference	between	cost	and	fair	value,	less	any	impairment	loss 
     previously recognised in the statement of income;        
  
(b)	For	assets	carried	at	cost,	impairment	is	the	difference	between	carrying	value	and	the	present	value	of	future
     cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset; and    
             
(c)	For	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost,	impairment	is	the	difference	between	carrying	amount	and	the	present	value	of	 
     future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

              
Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets
A	financial	asset	(or,	where	applicable	a	part	of	a	financial	asset	or	part	of	a	group	of	similar	financial	assets)	is	derecognised	
where:              
            

(i)	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or	 	 	 	 	 	 	
             
(ii)	the	Company	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	or	has	assumed	an	obligation	to	pay	the 
				received	cash	flows	in	full	without	material	delay	to	a	third	party	under	a	‘pass-through’	arrangement;	and	either	(a)	the 
				Company	has	transferred	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	the	asset,	or	(b)	the	Company	has	neither 
    transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control	of	the	asset,	the	asset	is	recognised	to	the	extent	of	the	Company’s	continuing	involvement	in	the	asset.	
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
             
Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)     
 
Financial liabilities            
A	financial	liability	is	derecognised	when	the	obligation	under	the	liability	is	discharged	or	cancelled	or	expires.	Where	an	
existing	financial	liability	is	replaced	by	another	from	the	same	lender	on	substantially	different	terms,	or	the	terms	of	an	
existing	liability	are	substantially	modified,	such	an	exchange	or	modification	is	treated	as	a	derecognition	of	the	original	
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of income.         

Revenue recognition           
Revenue	is	recognised	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	the	Company	and	the	revenue	
can	be	reliably	measured.	Revenue	is	measured	at	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received,	excluding	discounts,	rebates,	
and	sales	taxes	or	duty.	The	following	specific	recognition	criteria	must	also	be	met	for	revenue	to	be	recognised:	 	
            
Card centre revenue            

(a)	Electronic bureau processing          
Income from electronic bureau processing is recognised over the period in which the services are rendered, net of 
withholding	tax.

(b)	Sponsored programmes          
Annual card fees are billed to cardmembers on a monthly basis and are taken to income net of collection fees and 
withholding	tax.	Revenue	related	to	card	utilisation	and	other	incidental	revenues	are	recognised	when	earned.

              
Travellers’ cheques revenue           

Revenue from travellers’ cheques represents income earned on the float of travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption and is 
accounted for on an effective yield basis.          
 
Interest income            
Revenue	is	recognised	as	interest	accrues	(using	the	effective	interest	method	that	is	the	rate	that	exactly	discounts	
estimated	future	cash	receipts	through	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	instrument	to	the	net	carrying	amount	of	the	
financial	asset).	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dividends             
Revenue is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.     
 
Rental income             
Rental income arising from operating leases on property is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease terms. 
 
Foreign currencies            
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	retranslated	at	the	rate	of	exchange	ruling	at	the	date	of	the	statement	
of financial position. All differences are taken to the statement of income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of	historical	cost	in	foreign	currency	are	retranslated	using	the	exchange	rates	as	at	dates	of	the	initial	transactions.	Non-
monetary	items	measured	at	fair	value	in	a	foreign	currency	are	translated	using	the	exchange	rates	at	the	date	when	the	fair	
value is determined. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, 
any	exchange	component	of	that	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	Conversely,	when	a	
gain	or	loss	on	a	non-monetary	item	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	income,	any	exchange	component	of	that	gain	or	loss	
is recognised in the statement of income.          
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
 
Trade and settlement date accounting        
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Company commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.            

Offsetting             
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Company  intends to either settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.        
  
Fair values             
For investments traded in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices. The fair value 
of interest-bearing items is estimated based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for items with similar terms and 
risk characteristics. 

For unquoted equity investments, fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques may 
include using recent arm’s length market transactions or reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same. In cases when the fair value of unquoted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the 
instruments are carried at cost less impairment.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further detail as to how they are measured are provided in note 26. 
           
Operating leases           
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at inception date: whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income.       

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

In	the	process	of	applying	the	Company’s	accounting	policies,	management	has	exercised	judgement	and	estimates	in	
determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The most significant uses of judgements and estimates are 
as follows:              

Going concern             
The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis. 
     
Classification of investments          
Management decides on acquisition of an investment whether it should be classified as carried at fair value through 
statement of income, held-to-maturity or available-for-sale. The Company classifies investments as fair value through 
statement of income if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of making short term profit. Classification of investments 
designated as fair value through statement of income depends on how management monitors the performance of these 
investments. Investments are classified as held-to-maturity when the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold 
it to maturity. All other investments are classified as available-for-sale.       
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)       
 
Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)    

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets         
For available-for-sale financial investments, the Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective 
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its 
cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Company 
evaluates,	among	other	factors,	historical	share	price	movements	and	the	duration	or	extent	to	which	the	fair	value	of	an	
investment is less than its cost. In case of debt securities classified as available-for-sale investments, management judgment 
is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. These 
estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to 
the allowance.            

4. PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES      

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are listed below. 
This	listing	is	of	standards	and	interpretations	issued,	which	the	Company	reasonably	expects	to	be	applicable	at	a	future	
date.	The	Company	intends	to	adopt	those	standards	(where	applicable)	when	they	become	effective:	 	 	
 
IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation
The amendments becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 and require that an entity present 
separately,	the	items	of	other	comprehensive	income	that	would	be	reclassified	(or	recycled)	to	profit	or	loss	in	the	future	if	
certain	conditions	are	met	(for	example,	upon	derecognition	or	settlement),	from	those	that	would	never	be	reclassified	to	
profit or loss. The amendment affects presentation only, therefore, will have no impact on the Company’s financial position or 
performance.             
 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013. These include the elimination of the corridor approach and recognising all actuarial gains and losses in the 
other comprehensive income as they occur; immediate recognition of all past service costs; and replacement of interest cost 
and	expected	return	on	plan	assets	with	a	net	interest	amount	that	is	calculated	by	applying	the	discount	rate	to	the	net	
defined	benefit	liability	(asset);	and	certain	clarifications	and	re-wording.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	full	impact	
of these amendments.  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39.

It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires 
financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at 
amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model 
for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.    
        
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the 
fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in 
other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. 
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4. PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)     

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)          
It also includes those paragraphs of IAS 39 dealing with how to measure fair value and accounting for derivatives embedded 
in a contract that contains a host that is not a financial asset, as well as the requirements of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of 
Embedded Derivatives.

The	standard	is	currently	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013.	The	IASB	issued	an	exposure	
draft	(ED)	Mandatory	effective	date	of	IFRS	9	-	that	proposes	the	mandatory	effective	date	to	periods	beginning	on	or	
after 1 January 2015 with early application continuing to be permitted. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge 
accounting and impairment of financial assets.         
            
The Company will quantify the effect of adoption of this Standard, in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to 
present a comprehensive picture.           
            
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements         
IFRS 10 introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be consolidated and provides a single 
consolidation model that identifies control as the basis for consolidation for all types of entities.     
  
An investor controls an investee when:          
            

•	it	is	exposed	or	has	rights	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	that	investee;	
•	it	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	through	its	power	over	that	investee;	and
•	there	is	a	link	between	power	and	returns.	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
            

Control is re-assessed as facts and circumstances change.        
            
IFRS 10 replaces IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose 
Entities. IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and earlier application is permitted. The 
Company is currently assessing the full impact of this new standard.       
            
IFRS 11 Joint arrangements             
IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement and improves on IAS 31 by 
establishing principles that are applicable to the accounting for all joint arrangements.      
  
IFRS	11	classifies	joint	arrangements	into	two	types	–	Joint	operations	and	Joint	ventures;	and	defines	joint	control	as	the	
contractually	agreed	sharing	of	control	of	an	arrangement,	which	exists	only	when	decisions	about	the	relevant	activities	(i.e.	
activities	that	significantly	affect	the	returns	of	the	arrangement)	require	the	unanimous	consent	of	the	parties 
sharing control.           
 
IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions 
by Venturers. IFRS 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and earlier application is permitted. 
The Company is currently assessing the full impact of this new standard.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities          
IFRS 12 combines, enhances and replaces the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
unconsolidated structured entities. As a consequence of these new IFRSs, the IASB also issued amended and retitled IAS 27 
Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.     
       
IFRS 12 aims to provide information to enable users to evaluate: 
 
•	the	nature	of,	and	risks	associated	with,	an	entity’s	interests	in	other	entities;	and 
•	the	effect	of	those	interests	on	the	entity’s	financial	position,	financial	performance	and	cash	flows.	 	 	
 
IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and earlier application is permitted. 
The Company is currently assessing the full impact of this new standard.   
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4. PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)     
             
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement
IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value 
measurement guidance. It defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure 
requirements	for	fair	value	measurements.	It	explains	how	to	measure	fair	value	when	it	is	required	or	permitted	by	other	
IFRSs.	IFRS	13	does	not	extend	to	the	use	of	fair	value	accounting	but	provide	guidance	on	how	it	should	be	applied	where	
its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs.       
    
IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and earlier application is permitted. The 
Company is currently assessing the full impact of this new standard.        
  
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011)        
IAS	27	(2011)	supersedes	IAS	27	(2008).	As	a	consequence	of	the	new	IFRS	10	and	IFRS	12	aforementioned,	IAS	27	(2011)	
carries	forward	the	existing	accounting	and	disclosure	requirements	for	separate	financial	statements,	with	some	minor	
clarifications.              
  
IAS	27	(2011)	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013	and	earlier	application	is	permitted.	The	
Company does not present separate financial statements.        
           
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011)   

IAS	28	(2011)	supercedes	IAS	28	(2008).	As	a	consequence	of	the	new	IFRS	11	and	IFRS	12	(refer	above),	IAS	28	has	
been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to 
investments in joint ventures in addition to associates.        
             
IAS	28	(2011)	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013	and	earlier	application	is	permitted.	The	
Company is currently assessing the full impact of this amendment.       
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2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Cash in hand and balances with banks  2,458  3,736 

Money at call  741  690 

Statutory deposit with the Central Bank of Bahrain  53  53 

 3,252  4,479 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 

        with original maturity of less than 90 days  28,356  31,072 

Deposits with banks with original maturity of: 

       - Less than 90 days*  962  777 

       - More than 90 days*  10,897  10,839 

 40,215  42,688 

* These deposits are maintained as collateral against personal payment instrument activities.

5. CASH IN HAND AND BALANCES WITH BANKS AND THE CENTRAL BANK OF BAHRAIN

6. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
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7. INVESTMENTS

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Held-to-maturity

Quoted	bonds	(note	7.1)  3,999  4,500 

Available-for-sale

Quoted	equities	(note	7.2)  1,056  1,198 

Unquoted equity  1,554  1,077 

Unquoted	debt	security	(note	7.2)  318  305 

 6,927  7,080 

Investments at fair value through statement of income  6,100  6,100 

 13,027  13,180 

7.1 As	of	31	December	2011,	the	fair	value	of	quoted	held-to-maturity	bonds	was	US$	4,036	thousand	(31	December	
2010:	US$	4,639	thousand).

7.2 During	the	year	an	impairment	loss	of	US$	66	thousand	(2010:	US$	2	thousand)	has	been	recognised	and	adjusted	
against	the	gross	amount	of	available-for-sale	investments	of	US$	725	thousand	(2010:	US$	228	thousand).		The	
movement in the allowance for impairment of available-for-sale investments was as follows:

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Share of the joint venture's statement of financial position

Total assets  -  2,275 

Total liabilities  - 	(565)

Net assets  -  1,710 

Carrying amount of the investment  -  1,710 

Share of the joint venture's revenue and net profit

Revenue  1,365  1,422 

Net profit  341  402 

8. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

On	9	December	2011,	the	Company	has	disposed	off	its	51%	equity	interest	in	Euronet	Middle	East	W.L.L.	(ENME).	The	
Company	transferred	the	ownership	of	ENME	to	EFT	Services	Holding	B.V.	(previously	holding	49%	equity	interest	in	
ENME)	and	Euronet	Worldwide	Inc.	for	a	total	consideration	of	US$	6,375	thousand,	recognising	a	gain	of	US$	4,447	
thousand. 

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Company’s investment in the joint venture:

At 1 January  1,204  1,307 

Charge for the year  66  2 

Realised on sale of available-for-sale investments  - 	(105)

At 31 December  1,270  1,204 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000



38 ARAB FINANCIAL SERVICES COMPANY B.S.C.(c)

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Due from

        Card programme customers  3,885  2,700 

        Travellers' cheques sales agents and others  6,593  6,629 

 10,478  9,329 

Provision for impairment

        Card programme customers  (448) 	(458)

        Travellers' cheques sales agents and others  (6,572) 	(6,572)

Net accounts receivable  3,458  2,299 

Prepaid	expenses  1,327  354 

Interest receivable  107  149 

Other assets *  6,687  385 

 11,579  3,187 

*	Includes	an	amount	of	US$	6,375	thousand	relating	to	sale	of	a	joint	venture	interest	in	Euronet	Middle	East	W.L.L.	(note	8).

The gross value of impaired accounts receivables was as follows:

Movements in the allowance for impairment of accounts receivable were as follows:

** Included in other operating income for 2011 and 2010.

Assets are classified as past due and impaired when contractual payments are in arrears for more than 90 days and an 
impairment adjustment is recorded in the statement of income for this. There are no receivables as at 31 December 2011 
(2010:	nil)	that	are	past	due	but	not	impaired.

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

At 1 January  7,030  7,274 

Written back during the year **  (10) 	(235)

Write-offs  - 	(9)

At 31 December  7,020  7,030 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Due from card programme customers  2,499  565 

Due from travellers' cheques sales agents and others  6,572  6,572 

 9,071  7,137 

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        
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Freehold 
land

US$ 000
Building
US$ 000

Furniture, 
equipment and 

vehicles
US$ 000

Capital work 
in progress

US$ 000
Total

US$ 000

Cost

     At 1 January 2011  1,326  8,155  13,846  513  23,840 

     Additions  -  2  328  1,408  1,738 

     At 31 December 2011  1,326  8,157  14,174  1,921  25,578 

Depreciation

     At 1 January 2011  -  4,982  11,739  -  16,721 

     Provided during the year  -  288  1,096  -  1,384 

     At 31 December 2011  -  5,270  12,835  -  18,105 

Net book value

     At 31 December 2011  1,326  2,887  1,339  1,921  7,473 

Estimated useful lives - 30 years 3-10 years  - 

Freehold 
 land

US$ 000
Building
US$ 000

Furniture, 
equipment and 

vehicles
US$ 000

Capital work 
in progress

US$ 000
Total

US$ 000

Cost

     At 1 January 2010  1,326  8,133  12,949  170  22,578 

     Additions  -  22  762  491  1,275 

     Disposals  -  - 	(13)  - 	(13)

     Transfers  -  -  148 	(148)  - 

     At 31 December 2010  1,326  8,155  13,846  513  23,840 

Depreciation

     At 1 January 2010  -  4,687  10,522  -  15,209 

     Provided during the year  -  295  1,230  -  1,525 

     Disposals  -  - 	(13)  - 	(13)

     At 31 December 2010  -  4,982  11,739  -  16,721 

Net book value

     At 31 December 2010  1,326  3,173  2,107  513  7,119 

Estimated useful lives  - 30 years 3-10 years  - 

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        
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2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Due to customers, suppliers and agents  3,762  3,502 

Accrued	expenses  2,357  1,826 

Other payables  589  429 

 6,708  5,757 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Provision for Travellers’ cheques losses  253  240 

Employees’ end of service benefits  528  453 

 781  693 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

At 1 January  240  220 

Provided during the year  13  20 

At 31 December  253  240 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Authorised

10,000,000	(2010:	10,000,000)	shares	of	US$	7.50	each  75,000  75,000 

Issued and fully paid

6,000,000	(2010:	6,000,000)	shares	of	US$	7.50	each  45,000  45,000 

Treasury shares

11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        

12. OTHER LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

Movement in the provision for travellers' cheques losses was as follows:

13. SHARE CAPITAL

As	at	31	December	2011,	the	Company	held	309,750	treasury	shares	(31	December	2010:	309,750	shares).	These	shares	
do not carry any voting rights and are not entitled to dividend.
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Statutory reserve

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Company's memorandum and articles of association, 
10% of profit for the year has been transferred to a statutory reserve. The Company’s shareholders may resolve to 
discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital of the Company. The reserve 
is not distributable but may be used as security for the purpose of a distribution in such circumstances as stipulated in 
the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and following the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

Capital reserve

This reserve represents profits on sale of property and equipment in past years. This reserve can be distributed as 
dividends after approval of the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders, subject to the provision that this will not 
affect the Company’s ability to restore the assets to their original condition or to acquire new property and equipment.

General reserve

This reserve is only distributable following a resolution of the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders and the
approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

The	Board	of	Directors	has	proposed	for	the	year	2011	a	dividend	of	US$	0.40	per	share	(2010:	US$	0.47	per	share)	
amounting	to	US$	2,250	thousand	(2010:	US$	2,700	thousand),	which	will	be	submitted	for	formal	approval	at	the	Annual	
General Meeting.

During	the	year	a	dividend	of	US$	0.47	per	share	aggregating	to	US$	2,700	thousand	for	the	year	2010	(2010:	US$	0.47	
per	share	aggregating	to	US$	2,700	thousand)	was	approved	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting	held	on	26	April	2011.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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14. RESERVES

15. PROPOSED DIVIDEND

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Income from electronic bureau processing  13,314  12,713 

Income from sponsored card programmes  2,887  2,899 

 16,201  15,612

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Interest income on held-to-maturity investments  392  490 

Gain on sale of available-for-sale investments  -  160 

Gain on sale of investments at fair value through statement of income  640  - 

 1,032  650 

Income	from	electronic	bureau	processing	is	stated	net	of	withholding	tax	of	US$	407	thousand	(2010:	US$	413
thousand).

16. CARD CENTRE REVENUE

17. INVESTMENT INCOME - NET
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Exceptional	item	consists	of	the	following:

a)	In	2010,	a	write	back	of	US$	220	thousand	was	made	relating	to	old	credit	balances	outstanding	for	a	period	of	more	
than 10 years for which the chances of a claim being made is considered by the management to be remote. These write 
backs were in accordance with the policy of the Company that had been approved by the Central Bank of Bahrain and 
were made after obtaining the approval of the Board of Directors. No such write back was made in 2011.

b)	In	2010,	a	write	back	of	US$	1,417	thousand	was	made	relating	to	travellers'	cheques	outstanding	for	a	period	of	20	
years or more. These write backs were in accordance with the policy of the Company that had been approved by the 
Central Bank of Bahrain and were made after obtaining the approval of the Board of Directors. As per this policy, the total 
write back is capped at 50% of the total outstanding balance as at 31 December 2006. As the cumulative write back had 
reached	its	maximum	limit	at	31	December	2010,	no	write	back	was	made	in	2011.

Travellers'  cheques  outstanding  as  at  31 December 2011  are  net  of  the  cumulative  write  back  of US$ 4,682
thousand	(31	December	2010:	US$	4,939	thousand).

18. EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Card	related	expenses  2,550  1,935 

Electronic	data	processing	expenses  4,027  2,560 

Other	expenses  2,534  1,954 

 9,111  6,449 

19. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

20. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year as follows:

The basic and diluted earnings per share are the same since the Company has not issued any instruments which would 
have	an	impact	on	earnings	per	share	when	exercised.

2011
 4,668 

2010
 4,407 Profit	for	the	year	(US$	000)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, net of treasury shares 
								(thousands)

 5,690  5,690 

Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	(US$)  0.82  0.77 
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21. DIVIDEND PER SHARE 

Dividend per share is calculated by dividing the proposed dividend for the year by the number of shares outstanding, 
net of treasury shares at the year end as follows:

2011
 2,250 

2010
 2,700 Dividend	for	the	year	(US$	000)	[note	15]

Number of shares outstanding at the year end, net of treasury 

										shares	(thousands)  5,690  5,690 

Dividend	per	share	(US$)  0.40  0.47 

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk governance
The Company’s risk governance is manifested in a set of established policies, procedures and controls which uses the 
existing	organisational	structure	to	meet	strategic	targets.	The	Company’s	philosophy	revolves	on	willing	and	
knowledgeable risk acceptance commensurate with the risk appetite and strategic plan approved by the Board. The 
Company	is	exposed	to	credit,	market,	legal,	operational	and	liquidity	risks.	

Risk management structure
A cohesive organisational structure is established within the Company in order to identify, assess, monitor, and
control risks.

Board of Directors 
The	apex	of	risk	governance	is	the	centralised	oversight	of	the	Board	of	Directors	providing	direction	and	the	necessary	
approvals of strategies and policies in order to achieve defined corporate goals.

Senior management
Senior management is responsible for the day to day operations towards achieving the strategic goals within the
Company’s pre-defined risk appetite.

Audit Committee and Internal Audit Department
Risk management processes throughout the Company are audited annually by the Internal Audit Department which 
examines	both	the	adequacy	of	the	procedures	and	the	Company’s	compliance	with	the	procedures.	The	Internal	Audit	
Department discusses the results of all assessments with senior management, and reports its findings and
recommendations directly to the Audit Committee. 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following statement of financial position 
amounts:

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Cash in hand and balances with banks  2,458  3,736 

Money at call  741  690 

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions

        with original maturity of less than 90 days *  28,356  31,072 

 31,555  35,498 

*	Excluding	deposits	maintained	as	collateral	-	note	6
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a)  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to	incur	a	financial	loss.	The	Company	attempts	to	control	credit	risk	by	monitoring	credit	exposures,	limiting	transactions	
with specific counterparties, and continually assessing the credit worthiness of counterparties.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet 
contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of 
credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry 
or geographic location.

The	Company	seeks	to	manage	its	credit	risk	exposure	through	diversification	of	its	activities	to	avoid	undue	
concentrations of risk with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or businesses.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Cash in hand and balances with banks  3,199  4,426 

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions  40,215  42,688 

Investments  10,417  10,905 

Accounts receivable, prepayments and other assets  10,252  2,833 

 64,083  60,852 

The Company does not have an internal credit rating system of the counterparties and considers all counterparties to be 
of	the	standard	credit	quality	except	for	those	which	have	defaulted	or	become	bankrupt,	in	which	case	these	are
considered	as	‘bad’.	At	31	December	2011,	the	Company	has	no	exposure	to	‘bad’	counterparties	(2010:	Same).

The Company receives collaterals against third party customer receivables. At 31 December, the Company had the
following collaterals:

a) (i) Maximum exposure to credit risk

The	Company’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	before	master	netting	and	collateral	agreements	is	as	follows:

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Letters of guarantee from banks  4,300  4,300 

Cash collaterals  1,617  2,122 

 5,917  6,422 
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a) (ii) The Company’s exposure analysed by geographic regions and industry sectors as at 31 December 2011 
and 2010 were as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Geographical region

     Middle East  54,660  57,076  7,977  7,180 

     Africa  2,969  2,898  4,061  4,039 

     Europe  13,938  7,413  129  134 

     North America  3,979  4,976  1  1 

     Other  -  -  3  3 

 75,546  72,363  12,171  11,357 

Industry sectors

     Banks and other financial institutions  71,871  69,086  3,668  3,860 

     Other  3,675  3,277  8,503  7,497 

 75,546  72,363  12,171  11,357 

b) Market risk
Market	risk	arises	from	fluctuations	in	foreign	exchange	rates,	equity	prices	and	interest	rates.	The	level	of	market	risk	
appropriate for the Company is as approved by the Board of Directors. This is monitored on a monthly basis by the 
management. 

b) (i) Currency risk
Currency	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	value	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	due	to	adverse	changes	in	foreign	exchange	
rates. The Company views itself as a Bahraini entity, with the United States Dollar as its functional currency. The 
management has set limits on positions by currency which are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that positions are 
maintained within established limits.

The	table	below	indicates	the	currencies	to	which	the	Company	had	significant	exposure	at	31	December	2011.	The	
analysis shows the impact of a 5% movement in the currency rate against the United States Dollar, with all other variables 
held constant, on the statement of income.

The	Company	had	the	following	significant	foreign	currency	exposures	at	31	December	2011	and	2010:

Assets
2011

US$ 000

Change in 
exchange 
rates (+/-)

2011
%

Effect on net 
income (+/-)

2011
US$ 000

Assets
2010

US$ 000

Change in 
exchange 
rates	(+/-)

2010
%

Effect on net 
income	(+/-)

2010
US$ 000

Great Britain Pounds  747  15  112  749  15  112 

Lebanese Pounds  -  10  -  503  10  50 

Euro  31  15  5  53  15  8 

 778  1,305 
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Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of financial instruments. 
The	Company	is	exposed	to	interest	rate	risk	as	a	result	of	mismatches	or	gaps	in	the	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	
that mature or reprice in a given period. The Company manages this risk by matching the repricing of assets and 
liabilities through risk management strategies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Company’s statement of income.

The sensitivity of the statement of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest 
income for one year, based on financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2011.

Increase in
basis

points
2011

Sensitivity of
statement of

income
2011

US$ 000

Decrease in
basis

points
2011

Sensitivity of
statement of

income
2011

US$ 000

USD  25  98  25  (98)

Increase in Sensitivity of Decrease in Sensitivity of

basis statement of basis statement of

points income points income

2010 2010 2010 2010

US$ 000 US$ 000

USD  25  108  25 	(108)

b) (ii) Equity price risk

Equity price risk arises from the change in fair values of equity investments. The Company’s sensitivity to equity price 
risk on quoted equity investments is presented below:

Effect on
other comprehensive

income
2011

US$ 000

Effect on
other comprehensive

income
2010

US$ 000

Change in
equity prices

2011
%

Change in
equity prices

2010
%Market indices

Bahrain	Stock	Exchange  10  47  10  51 

Jordan	Stock	Exchange  10  58  10  69 

At 31 December 2011, the Company had unquoted equity investments carried at a fair value of US$ 1,553 thousand 
(31	December	2010:	US$	1,077	thousand)	by	reference	to	the	fair	value	of	a	similar	quoted	equity	instrument.	As	at	
the statement of financial statement date, a 10% change in equity price of a reference equity instrument will result in a 
change	in	other	comprehensive	income	of	US$	155	thousand	(2010:	US$	108	thousand).

b) (iii) Interest rate risk 

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Market risk (continued)
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s assets and liabilities.  The maturity profile is 
monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.  The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 
the year end is based on contractual undiscounted repayment arrangements.

Based	on	previous	experience,	the	maturity	profile	of	Travellers’	cheques	awaiting	redemption	cannot	be	reliably	
determined.

Liquidity risk is the risk that an institution will be unable to meet its net funding requirements.  Liquidity risk can be 
caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately.  
To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets are managed with liquidity in mind, 
maintaining a healthy balance of cash, cash equivalents, and readily marketable securities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Market risk (continued)

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2011 was as follows:

c) Liquidity risk

On 
demand 

/ no fixed 
maturity

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 months    
to 1 year

Sub total 
up to

1 year
Over

 1 year Total

Assets

Cash in hand and balances 
       with banks and Central 
       Bank of Bahrain  53  3,199  -  -  -  3,199  -  3,252 

Deposits with banks and other  
       financial institutions  -  15,112  10,012  15,091  -  40,215  -  40,215 

Investments  2,610  -  -  -  -  - 10,417  13,027 

Accounts receivable, 
       prepayments and  
       other assets  30  10,062  69  956  287  11,374  175  11,579 

Property and equipment  7,473  -  -  -  -  -  -  7,473 

Total assets  10,166  28,373  10,081  16,047  287  54,788 10,592  75,546 

Liabilities

Travellers’ cheques awaiting 
       redemption  4,682  -  -  -  -  -  -  4,682 

Accounts payable and 
       accruals  -  6,708  -  -  -  6,708  -  6,708 

Other liabilities and provisions  781  -  -  -  -  -  -  781 

Total liabilities  5,463  6,708  -  -  -  6,708  -  12,171 

US$ 000
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The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2010 was as follows:

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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On demand 
/	no	fixed	
maturity

Up to 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 months    
to 1 year

Sub total 
up to 1 

year
Over 

1 year Total

Assets

Cash in hand and balances with 
        banks and Central Bank of Bahrain 53 4,426 - - - 4,426 - 4,479

Deposits with banks and other 
        financial institutions  11,615  25,046  6,027  -  -  31,073  -  42,688 

Investments  2,275  -  503  -  -  503  10,402  13,180 

Investment in joint venture  1,710  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,710 

Accounts receivable,  
        prepayments and other assets  -  2,667  112  100  308  3,187  -  3,187 

Property and equipment  7,119  -  -  -  -  -  -  7,119 

Total assets  22,772  32,139  6,642  100  308  39,189  10,402  72,363 

Liabilities

Travellers’ cheques awaiting  
        redemption  4,907  -  -  -  -  -  -  4,907 

Accounts payable and 
        accruals  -  5,757  -  -  -  5,757  -  5,757 

Other liabilities and provisions  693  -  -  -  -  -  -  693 

Total liabilities  5,600  5,757  -  -  -  5,757  -  11,357 

US$ 000

As the Company does not have any interest bearing liabilities, the totals in the table match the statement of
financial position.
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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The primary objectives of the Company's capital management are to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support 
its	business		and	to	maximise	shareholders’	value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in business conditions 
and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust 
the amount of dividend payment to shareholders or  issue capital securities. No changes were made in the objectives, 
policies and processes from the previous year.

d) Legal risk and claims

Legal risk is the risk arising from the potential that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse judgments can disrupt 
or otherwise negatively affect the operations of the Company. The Company has developed controls and procedures to 
identify legal risks.

As	at	31	December	2011,	legal	suits	for	claims	amounting	to	US$	253	thousand	(31	December	2010:	US$	240	thousand)	
were pending against the Company. Based on the opinion of the Company’s legal counsel, the total estimated liability 
arising from these cases is not considered to be material to the Company's overall financial statements.

e) Operational risk

Operational	risk	is	the	risk	of	loss	arising	from	systems	failure,	human	error,	fraud	or	external	events.		When	controls	fail	
to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial 
loss.	The	Company	cannot	expect	to	eliminate	all	operational	risks,	but	through	a	control	framework	and	by	monitoring	
and responding to potential risks, the Company is able to manage the risks.  Controls include effective segregation of 
duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the 
use of internal audit.

f) Capital management
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Net income from 
       electronic bureau
       processing  -  185  -  8,692  -  162  -  8,162 

Other operating income  40  82  -  -  48  78  -  - 

 40  267  -  8,692  48  240  -  8,162 

2011
US$ 000

2010
US$ 000

Salaries and other benefits
 

2,927 
 

1,889 

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Company, and entities 
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions 
are approved by the Companys management. 

Balances with related parties included in the statement of financial position are as follows:

2011 2010

Directors
and key

management
personnel

US$ 000

Directors
and key

management
personnel
US$ 000

Major
shareholder

US$ 000

Joint
venture

US$ 000

Parent
US$ 
000

Major
shareholder

US$ 000

Joint
venture

US$ 000
Parent

US$ 000

Assets

Cash in hand and with banks  -  196  -  -  -  266  -  - 

Money at call  -  349  -  -  -  276  -  - 

Accounts receivable, 
        prepayments and
        other assets  -  93 

 

57 

 

1,413 

 

89 

 

15 

 

46 

 

714 

 -  638  57  1,413  89  557  46  714 

Liabilities

Accounts payable
        and accruals  -  - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
172 

 
- 

 
-  - 

The	income	and	expenses	in	respect	of	related	parties	included	in	the	statement	of	income	are	as	follows:

Compensation of key management personnel of the Company

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        
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25. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At 31 December 2011, financial instruments have been classified for the purpose of measurement under IAS 39
'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' as follows:

At fair value
through

statement
of income

US$ 000

Available
for-sale
US$ 000

Financial
assets at

amortised cost /
receivables

US$ 000
Total

US$ 000

ASSETS

Cash in hand and balances with banks 

        and the Central Bank of Bahrain  -  -  3,252  3,252 

Deposits with banks and other financial
        institutions  -  -  40,215  40,215 

Investments  6,100  2,928  3,999  13,027 

Accounts receivable and other assets  -  -  10,252  10,252 

 6,100  2,928  57,718  66,746 

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost

US$ 000

LIABILITIES

Travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption  4,682 

Accounts payable and accruals  6,708 

 11,390 
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25. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

At fair value 
through

statement
of income
US$ 000

Available-for-
sale

US$ 000

Financial assets at
amortised

cost /
receivables

US$ 000
Total

US$ 000

ASSETS

Cash in hand and balances with banks 

         and the Central Bank of Bahrain  -  -  4,479  4,479 

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions  -  -  42,688  42,688 

Investments  6,100  2,580  4,500  13,180 

Accounts receivable and other assets  -  -  2,833  2,833 

 6,100  2,580  54,500  63,180 

Financial 
liabilities at
amortised

cost
US$ 000

At 31 December 2010, financial instruments have been classified for the purpose of measurement under IAS 39 'Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' as follows:

LIABILITIES

Travellers’ cheques awaiting redemption  4,907 

Accounts payable and accruals  5,757 

 10,664 

26. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair	value	is	the	amount	for	which	an	asset	could	be	exchanged,	or	a	liability	settled,	between	knowledgeable,	willing	
parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Consequently, differences can arise between carrying values and the fair value 
estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Company is a going concern without any 
intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are not different from their carrying values in the statement of financial 
position	except	for	quoted	held-to-maturity	bonds	(note	7.1)	carried	at	amortised	cost	and	an	unquoted	debt	security	
(note	7.2)	carried	at	cost	less	impairment.

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level 1:	quoted	(unadjusted)	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data.
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At 31 December 2011 US$ 000

Level 1 Level 2 Total

Investments

      Available-for-sale quoted equities  1,056  -  1,056 

      Available-for-sale unquoted equity*  -  1,554  1,554 

      Investments at fair value through the statement of income**  -  6,100  6,100 

 1,056  7,654  8,710 

At 31 December 2010 US$ 000

Level 1 Level 2 Total

Investments

     Available-for-sale quoted equities  1,198  -  1,198 

     Available-for-sale unquoted equity*  -  1,077  1,077 

     Investments at fair value through the statement of income**  -  6,100  6,100 

 1,198  7,177  8,375 

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2011        

26. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

* Fair value of these equity instruments is based on observable transactions which took place on the reporting date in a 
similar instrument, adjusted for differences between the instruments.

** The custodian of this instrument provides the fair value using a model with observable inputs.

During the years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 
fair value measurements.

At	31	December	2011	the	Company	had	contingent	liabilities	amounting	to	US$	600	thousand	(31	December	2010:	US$		
600	thousand)	in	respect	of	bank	and	other	guarantees	and	other	matters	arising	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business	from	
which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will arise.

As at 31 December 2011, the Company decided to change the presentation of the statement of income. The Company 
considers that the current presentation of the statement of income is more relevant to the users of the financial
statements following disposal of the joint venture and the revised structure is likely to continue. This change resulted in 
certain line items being reclassified within the statement of income and did not have any impact on the amounts
previously reported, the net profit for the year or on the statement of financial position.

27. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

28. CHANGE IN PRESENTATION
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AFS’ Corporate Governance Philosophy 

AFS	is	a	closed	joint	stock	company	owned	by	40	corporate	shareholders.	Arab	Banking	Corporation	(Bahrain)	holds	
majority	of	the	shares	(54.56%)	whereas	National	Commercial	Bank	(Saudi	Arabia)	holds	13.19%	of	the	total	shares.

Being an outsourced service provider, maintaining high standards in corporate governance is integral part of Company’s 
philosophy.	AFS	endeavors	not	only	to	comply	with	all	statutory	requirements	–	including	the	Corporate	Governance	Code	
of	the	Kingdom	of	Bahrain	and	the	High	Level	Controls	Module	of	the	Central	Bank	of	Bahrain	(CBB)	–	but	has	also	drafted	
company specific corporate governance guidelines to keep with international standards and best practices.

The Board of Directors is responsible to establish the corporate governance framework of the Company. The Board has 
delegated to the Audit Committee the responsibility to oversee all corporate governance related activities. The Audit 
Committee charter formally specifies Audit Committee’s duties towards corporate governance. Furthermore, Internal Audit 
department and Risk Management department assist the Audit Committee in its oversight role.

To keep shareholders abreast with state of corporate governance in the Company, in each annual general meeting, corporate 
governance appears as an item on the agenda for information; and a report is made on the status of compliance with the 
regulatory requirements.

Board of Directors 
Board composition is based on the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and comprises of 6 members. The 
Board	represents	a	mix	of	high-level	professional	skills	and	expertise.	Directors	are	elected/	appointed	by	shareholders	at	
the AGM. The current Board was appointed in April 2008 for a 3-year period, and all members were re-elected on 26th April 
2011 for another 3-year term. Article 23 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association provides guidance on termination of 
board membership.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards. The Board ensures all the necessary internal controls are in place to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement. 

In addition, the Board’s responsibilities include:
•	 Establishing	the	objectives	of	the	Company
•	 Providing	central	leadership	to	the	Company
•	 Reviewing	and	adopting	the	long	term	strategic	plan	
•	 Monitoring	the	implementation	of	strategy	by	management
•	 Convening	and	preparing	the	agenda	for	shareholder	meetings
•	 Monitoring	conflicts	of	interest	and	preventing	abusive	related	party	transactions
•	 Assuring	equitable	treatment	of	shareholders	including	minority	shareholders	
•	 Monitoring	business	and	management	performance	
•	 Adopting	and	reviewing	management	structure	and	responsibilities	
•	 Adopting	and	reviewing	the	systems	and	controls	framework

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three members with an independent board member as the Chairman. The Audit Committee 
assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the financial reporting process, system of internal control, audit 
process, code of conduct, and the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations. The Audit 
Committee also acts as the Corporate Governance Committee.

Communication Strategy
AFS maintains a corporate website where all relevant information is made available to shareholders. The website provides 
details of board members, profiles of senior management, service offerings and other related information. Furthermore, 
all	shareholders	are	invited	to	attend	the	Annual	General	Meeting	(AGM).	All	board	members	usually	attend	the	AGM	and	
are available to answer any question the shareholders may ask. In addition, the Company keeps an open communication 
channel with all shareholders and provides timely and accurate information to all queries. The last three years’ financial 
reports are available on AFS website.

External Audit
Ernst	&	Young	(E&Y)	were	the	Auditors	of	the	Company	for	the	year	ended	31st	December	2011	for	an	audit	fee	of	US$	
44,164.	E&Y	also	performed	half-yearly	review	of	financial	statements	(fee:	US$	5,968)	and	agreed-upon	procedures	relating	
to	anti-money	laundering	(fee:	US$	5,835).

In	accordance	with	Article	206	of	Bahrain	Commercial	Companies	Law	(2001),	the	external	auditors	are	re-appointed	each	
year by the shareholders at the AGM, subject to obtaining a no objection letter from CBB. The decision was taken to 
re-appoint E&Y as they are well-established and one of the Big 4 audit firms. Conflict of interest does not arise as E&Y 
follows best practice of rotating their partners on a regular basis.
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DIRECTORS’ BRIEF PROFILES

Mr. Hassan A. Juma 

Experience	 •	 Over	45	years
Qualification	 •	 Fellow	of	The	Chartered	Institute	of	Management	Accountants	(UK)
Title	 •	 Chairman	of	the	Board
	 •	 President	and	Chief	Executive,	Arab	Banking	Corporation,	Bahrain
Directorships	 •	 Board	Member,	Arab	Banking	Corporation,	Bahrain
	 •	 Chairman,	ABC	International	Bank,	plc,	UK
	 •	 Chairman,	Arab	Banking	Corporation,	Egypt
	 •	 Chairman,	Arab	Banking	Corporation,	Jordan

Mr. Adel Saleh Al-Howar (Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director)

Experience	 •	 Over	26	years
Title	 •	 Deputy	Chairman	of	the	Board
	 •	 Senior	Executive	Vice	President,	Head	of	Individual	Banking	Sector,	National		 	
  Commercial Bank, Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Directorships	 •	 Board	Chairman,	Saudi	Credit	Bureau	(SIMAH)
	 •	 Board	Member,	Al	Ahli	Takaful	Company
	 •	 Board	Member,	Stusid	Bank	of	Tunisia

Mr. Sael Al Waary (Executive Director)

Experience	 •	 Over	30	years
Title	 •	 Board	Member
	 •	 Group	Chief	Operating	Officer,	Arab	Banking	Corporation
Directorships	 •	 Board	Member,	Arab	Banking	Corporation,	Egypt
	 •	 Board	Member,	Arab	Banking	Corporation,	Jordan

Mr. Saleh Hussain (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

Experience	 •	 Over	40	years
Title	 •	 Board	Member	
	 •	 Chairman	of	the	Audit	Committee
Directorships	 •	 Board	Chairman,	Solidarity	General	Takaful,	Bahrain	

Mr. Suleiman Essa Azzabi (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

Experience	 •	 Over	25	years
Title	 •	 Board	Member	
	 •	 Member	of	the	Audit	Committee
	 •	 Deputy	General	Manager,	Al	Wahda	Bank,	Libya
Directorships	 •	 Deputy	Chairman,	Foreign	Exchange	&	Financial	Services,	Libya
	 •	 Deputy	Chairman,	Al	UBAF	Bank,	Bahrain	
	 •	 Board	Member,	Sahara	Insurance	Company,	Libya	

Mr. Adnan Habeeb Hashim (Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director)

Experience	 •	 Over	18	years
Title	 •	 Board	Member	
	 •	 Member	of	the	Audit	Committee
	 •	 Chief	Financial	Officer,	NCB	Capital
Directorships	 •	 No	other	board	membership
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCES

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee meet at least four times a year. The quorum for Board meeting is physical 
attendance by more than half board members; whereas the quorum for Audit Committee meeting is attendance of two 
members. In 2011, five Board meetings and four Audit Committee meetings were held in the following manner. All meetings 
were held in Kingdom of Bahrain.

  Board Meetings in 2011
Members 24 Jan 26 Apr 20 Jun 26 Sep 30 Nov
Hassan A. Juma     

Adel Saleh Al-Howar     

Sael Al Waary   	  

Saleh Hussain     

Suleiman	Essa	Azzabi*	 		          

Adnan Habeeb Hashim     

  Audit Committee Meetings in 2011
Members 23 Jan 25 Apr 25 Sep 29 Nov
Saleh Hussain    

Adnan Habeeb Hashim      
Suleiman	Essa	Azzabi*	 		        

*Mr. Azzabi was unable to attend 4 Board meetings and 3 Audit Committee meetings in 2011. This was because he could not 
travel due to the situation in Libya.

Corporate Governance Report
31 December 2011        

Senior Management’s Profile
Name Title Qualification Experience
B.	Chandrasekhar	 Chief	Executive	Officer	(CEO)	 B.E.,	MBA	 Over	24	years
Neil Pavis  Deputy CEO MBA Over 30 years
Mohammed Fraij Head of Product Development B.Sc. Over 25 years
Mansour Djebli Head of Operations M.Sc. Over 20 years
Ebrahim Jassim Head of Finance and Administration IFRS Diploma  Over 20 years
Partha Saha Head of Business Development B.Sc. Over 15 years
Adil Al Hoori Head of Human Resources MBA Over 14 years
Hasan Al Rashedi Head of IT Infrastructure B.Sc. Over 14 years
Koushik Iyer Head of Client Relationship B.E. Over 10 years
Kunal Tuneja Head of Compliance, Operational Risk M.Sc., PCI ISA, CISM Over 10 years
 and Information Security 

Shiraz	Ali	 Head	of	Internal	Audit	 B.E.,	MBA,	CIA,	CISA		 Over	10	years

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
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Reporting Lines and Structure

•	 All	positions	report	to	the	Deputy	CEO	except	Heads	of	Human	Resources,	Finance	and	Administration,	and	Business		
 Development who report directly to the CEO
•	 Internal	Audit	functionally	reports	to	the	Chairman	of	Audit	Committee	and	administratively	to	the	CEO
•	 Risk	Management	has	dotted	reporting	line	to	the	Audit	Committee
•	 Ms.	Kavita	Nair	performs	the	role	of	Money	Laundering	Reporting	Officer	(MLRO)	and	reports	directly	to	the	CEO
 for this function
•	 As	part	of	the	corporate	succession	plan,	a	backup	(successor)	exists	for	each	member	of	the	senior	management	to		
 ensure continuity of the role

Significant Changes in Management Structure During 2011

•	 Mr.	B.	Chandrasekhar	joined	as	CEO	upon	resignation	of	Mr.	Shankar	Sharma
•	 Mr.	Neil	Pavis	joined	as	Deputy	CEO	
•	 Mr.	Koushik	Iyer	replaced	Ms.	Amina	Sharif	as	Head	of	Client	Relationship
•	 Mr.	Adnan	Maskati	(Assistant	to	CEO)	passed	away	(May	God	rest	his	soul	in	peace)

Related Party Transactions
Related party transactions are defined as AFS’ transactions with its major shareholders, directors, and key management 
personnel of the Company; and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties, that may have 
potential conflict with the interests of the Company at large. Significant transactions with shareholders include Electronic 
Bureau Processing and Sponsored programs and services; which are approved by senior management. A formal policy on 
related party transactions is being drafted.

None of the transactions with any of the related parties were in conflict with the interest of the Company. Please refer to Note 
24 of the Audited Financial Statements.

Remuneration of the Board and Senior Management
The aggregate board remuneration for the year ended 31st December 2011 was US$ 195,000 which was approved by the 
Ministry of Industry and Commerce and the shareholders in the AGM. In addition, sitting allowance was paid to the directors 
for attending each Board and Committee meetings. 

The remuneration policy for senior management is in line with the industry standards and is directed towards rewarding 
performance, based on the review of Company’s performance and employees’ achievements on a yearly basis. The 
aggregate remuneration paid to senior management in 2011 was US$ 2,927,000.

Material Transactions Requiring Board’s Approval
Following material transactions require Board’s approval:

•	 Any	budgeted	expenditures	(including	capital	expenditure)	>	US$	1.5	million
•	 Any	unbudgeted	expenditure	(including	capital	expenditure)	>	US$	500,000
•	 Bad	debts	write	off	>	US$	200,000
•	 Sale	of	land	and	building

Corporate Governance Report
31 December 2011        
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OWNERSHIP BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDERS

Holding  No. of Shareholders % Holding No. of Shares

0 to 1% 26 7.49 426,176

1% up to less than 5% 12 24.76 1,409,109

5% up to less than 10% - - -

10% up to less than 20% 1 13.19 750,464

20% up to less than 50% - - -

50% and above 1 54.56 3,104,501

Total                     40  100 5,690,250

OWNERSHIP BY NATIONALITY

Country No. of Shareholders % Holding Number of Shares

Bahrain 2 56.93                  3,239,501 

Saudi Arabia 2 15.35                     873,714 

Egypt 4 7.66                     435,686 

United Arab Emirates 5 5.41                     307,981 

Libya 1 3.16                     180,000 

Kuwait 3 2.92                     166,000 

Lebanon 6 1.68                        95,500 

France  1 1.63                        92,740 

Turkey 1 1.32                        75,000 

Morocco 1 0.82                        46,434 

Tunisia 2 0.66                        37,598 

Sudan 3 0.47                        26,500 

Somalia 2 0.44                        25,048 

Yemen 2 0.35                        20,000 

Mauritania 1 0.35                        20,000 

Qatar 1 0.33                        18,548 

Oman 1 0.18                        10,000 

Jordan 1 0.18                        10,000 

Iraq 1 0.18                        10,000 

Total 40 100.00 5,690,250

Corporate Governance Report
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COMPLIANCE WITH HIGH LEVEL CONTROLS RULES, MODULE HC, CBB RULEBOOK VOLUME 1

The	Company	complies	with	all	material	provisions	of	CBB’s	corporate	governance	rules,	with	minor	exceptions;	which	are	
being addressed as discussed below:

•	 AFS	Corporate	Governance	Charter	has	been	drafted	–	the	board	will	review	the	draft	charter	in	a	subsequent	meeting		
 for adoption

•	 Required	documents	(including	formal	charter	of	the	Board,	directors’	appointment	letters,	induction	and	orientation		
	 process,	code	of	conduct,	conflict	of	interest	policies,	and	performance	evaluation	process)	have	been	drafted	–	the		
 Board will review these documents in a subsequent meeting for adoption

•	 Audit	Committee	will	continue	to	monitor	state	of	corporate	governance	in	the	Company	

•	 The	Board	will	evaluate	the	need	to	establish	Remuneration	and	Nominating	Committee

•	 AFS	has	obtained	CBB’s	exemption	from	the	rule	HC-1.4.8.
 
AFS looks forward to the release of CBB Rulebook Volume 5 for Ancillary Service companies.
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